FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/29/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

# FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 1/29/2020 11:36 AM

SUPREME COURT NO. 98133-7

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 36244-2-III Kittitas Superior Court No. 16-2-00254-7

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

GRANT COUNTY, ET. AL.

Respondents,

v.

JOHN LOUIS CORRIGAN, SR.

Petitioner.

### ON APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON – DIVISION THREE

The Honorable Lawrence-Berrey, Chief Judge

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOHN L. CORRIGAN, SR. Pro Se 51 NE Blomlie Rd PO Box 1846 Belfair, WA 98528

Phone; 253.350.0790

Email: jcorrigan25@outlook.com

####

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. The Court Should Accept Review Because The Decision Of The Court Of Appeals Is In Conflict With Decisions Of The United States Supreme Court, The Washington State Supreme Court And The Three Divisions Of The Court Of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).
- II. The Court Should Accept Review Because The Court Of Appeals Did Not Have Authority To *Sua Sponte* Convert A CR Rule 12(b)(6) Motion To A CR 56 Motion. RAP 13.4(b)(4).
- III. The Court Should Accept Review Because The Court Of Appeal's Denial Of The Petitioner's Motion For Reconsideration Violated Due Process Of Law When The COA Converted -Sua Sponte -A CR 12(b)(6) Motion To A CR 56 Motion Without Notice, Opportunity To Respond, Or Discovery And Thus Involves Significant Questions Of Law Under The 5th And 14th Amendments To The Constitution Of The United States And The Washington State Constitution, Article I § 4. RAP 2.5(a)(3).

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In April 2011 Corrigan was eventually stopped for speeding by an unmarked and then a marked Washington State Patrol vehicle. He was custodially arrested, spent the night in jail, went through a civil trial (speeding - dismissed), and a criminal trial (failing to stop – convicted, overturned, retried, and convicted again).

Relating to the above incident, Corrigan filed a 42 U.S.C. § 1983 civil rights lawsuit in Kittitas County Superior Court against various Grant County Defendants and the WSP Officer in the unmarked police vehicle. The case was removed to federal court and then dismissed with leave to file an amended complaint. Corrigan amended his complaint - now only asserting state law claims, requested remand, and the case was returned to Kittitas County Superior Court.

On April 23, 2018, Defendants moved to dismiss Corrigan's amended complaint pursuant to CR 12(b)(6). The trial court agreed with the defendants' arguments and granted their motions for dismissal pursuant to CR 12(b)(6). Corrigan timely appealed to Washington State Court of Appeals (COA), Division III. The COA *sua sponte* converted the CR 12(b)(6) motion to a CR 56 motion and granted the CR 56 motion to dismiss. Corrigan requested the COA reconsider because he was not given notice, an opportunity to respond to the summary judgment motion, or discovery - among other legal arguments. The COA denied reconsideration on December 31, 2019 without explanation.

Now comes this timely Petition for Review.

#### E. ARGUMENT

#### Introduction.

Grant County Defendants moved for a Motion for Stay of Discovery pending a motion under CR 12(b)(6). Then moved for a summary judgment motion. Judge Federspiel gave Defendants an option – a CR 12(b)(6) motion with a stay of discovery – or a CR 56 motion with no stay of discovery. Defendants opted for a CR 12(b)(6) motion with a stay of discovery. Judge Bartheld eventually ruled to grant Defendants' motions to dismiss under CR12(b)(6) stating among other things:

The issue that comes before this Court is whether or not the plaintiff has stated claims upon which relief can be granted as a matter of law. I do note that there was a motion to stay discovery pending the motion to dismiss. Judge Federspiel, by order dated April 2, 2018, indicated that discovery would be stayed so long as the Court was able to rule on the CR 12 motion without resorting to a CR (unintelligible), and when additional facts remain to be supplemented, the Court can convert a CR 12 motion to a CR 56 summary judgment if necessary. The Court finds in this case that there has not been a supplementation of facts in this case, that this matter was actually properly brought before this Court on a CR 12 motion. [Emphasis added]

<u>Verbatim Report of Proceedings from an Audio File</u>, June 18, 2018, pp. 14-15.

Corrigan appealed this decision to the appellate court.

Without notification, an opportunity to be heard or discovery, the COA *sua sponte* converted the CR 12(b)(6) motion to a CR 56 motion, claiming that matters outside the pleadings were presented – and then promptly granted Defendants summary judgment motion.

Issues relating to the argument:

1. Conversion Language Is The Same For Both Washington State Rules (CR 12(b)(6)) And Federal Rules Of Procedure (FRCP 12(d).

Before Federal Civil Rules were changed from *shall* to *must*, CR 12 wording was *exactly* the same. See <u>In Re Black & Geddes, Inc.</u>, 58 R.R. 547, 550 (S.D.N.Y. 1983). Therefore, authorities used are both state and federal, interchangeably.

WA Civil Rules for Superior Court	Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure
Rule 12. Defenses and Objections;	Rule 12(d) Result of Presenting Matters
(c) Motion for Judgment on the	Outside the Pleadings.
Pleadings.	_
If, on a motion for judgment on the	If, on a motion under Rule 12(b)(6) or
pleadings, matters outside the pleadings	12(c) matters outside the pleadings are
are presented to and not excluded by the	presented to and not excluded by the
court, the motion shall be treated as one	court, the motion must be treated as one
for summary judgment and disposed of	for summary judgment under Rule 56.
as provided in rule 56, and all parties	All parties must be given a reasonable
shall be given reasonable opportunity	opportunity to present all the
to present all material made pertinent	material that is pertinent to the
to such a motion by rule 56. [Emphasis	motion. [Emphasis added]
added]	

#### 2. CR 12(b)(6) Motion vs. CR 56 Motion - Similar But Different.

Both motions to dismiss and motions for judgment on the pleadings are pleadings-based attacks. Rule 12(d) respects this essential attribute by requiring that such motions be re-cast into summary judgment requests when materials outside the pleadings are examined, thereby ensuring that the distinct policies of pleadings challenges (i.e., testing the pleaded allegations) and factual challenges (i.e., testing the existence of supporting evidence) are honored. [Citations omitted] [Emphasis added]

Federal Civil Rules Handbook, © 2019 by Thomson Reuters/West, Rule 12(d) – Presenting Matters Outside the Pleadings pp. 480-481.

#### 3. Conversion And Due Process.

"We have held that it is reversible error for a district court to convert a motion under Rule 12(b)(6), into a motion for summary judgment unless the court provides notice of its intention to convert the motion and allows an opportunity to submit materials admissible in a summary judge proceeding or allows a hearing." [Emphasis added]

Bruni v. City of Pittsburgh, 824 F.3d 353, 360-61 (3d Cir. 2016).

Stating it differently:

The procedures set forth above assure that the parties will not be unfairly surprised, and that genuine issues of material fact will be brought to the trial court's attention. In short, they guard against entry of a summary judgment without due process. Compliance with the applicable time periods is thus not an end in itself, and a reviewing court must examine whether the party against whom summary judgment was granted did, indeed, have a reasonable opportunity to present its views and all materials pertinent to the dispositive issue. See, e.g., 6 Moore's Federal Practice ¶ 56.02[3] at 56-33 n. 20 (citing cases). [Emphasis added]

In Re Black & Geddes, Inc., 58 R.R. 547, 550 (S.D.N.Y. 1983).

Further, as the U.S. Supreme Court stated - that because summary judgment can be supported or defeated by citing a developed record, courts must give the parties "adequate time for discovery." <u>Guidotti v. Legal Helpers Debt Resolution, L.L.C.</u>, 866 F. Supp. 2d 315 (D.N.J. 2011), citing <u>Celotex Corp v. Catrett</u>, 477 U.S. 317, 322 (1986).

Finally,

Both the Washington and U.S. Constitutions provide that no person shall be deprived of "life, liberty, or property, without due process of law. State deprivation of any of these protected interests is unconstitutional unless accompanied by adequate procedural safeguards. Our Supreme Court has held that the state's due process protection is largely coextensive with that of the U.S. Constitution. [Citations omitted]

Berst v. Snohomish County, 114 Wash. App. 245 (COA Div. I, 2002)

I. The Court Should Accept Review Because The Decision Of The Court Of Appeals Is In Conflict With Decisions Of The United States Supreme Court, The Washington State Supreme Court And All Three Divisions Of The Washington Court Of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

Both the federal and the state courts assiduously protect the conversion requirements of notice, opportunity to be heard, and the need for discovery before due process is afford a non-moving litigant faced with a converted summary judgement determination. Consider the following compilation of Washington State Supreme Court, the three Washington Courts of Appeal, the U.S. Supreme Court, Utah Supreme Court, and federal circuit and district courts:

5

Summary judgment is affirmed if "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." [Emphasis added] Worthington v. Westnet, 182 Wash. 2d 500 (WA Sup. Ct. 2015) See also Vallandigham v. Clover Park School District No. 400, 154 Wn. 2d 16 (WA Sup. Ct. En Banc, 2005).

Rather, CR 12(b) indicates that if a CR 12(b)(6) motion is treated as a motion for summary judgment, "all parties shall be given reasonable opportunity to present all material made pertinent to such a motion by rule 56." [Emphasis added] Foisy v. Conroy, 101 Wn. App. 36 (COA I, 2000)

Summary judgment is appropriate **only if the pleadings, affidavits, depositions, and admissions on file demonstrate** the absence of any genuine issue of material fact, and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c). [Emphasis added] Kelley v. Pierce County, 179 Wash. App. 566 (COA II, 2014)

Thus, we agree with appellants and conclude that under Folsom, an appellate court cannot fully engage in the same inquiry as the trial court, or construe all evidence and reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, unless the appellate court evaluates anew all evidence available to the trial court for potential consideration on summary judgment. [Emphasis added] Keck v. Collins, 181 Wash. App. 67 (COA III, 2014)

Ruling that summary judgment was not properly granted because of premature discovery inadequacies citing numerous Utah discovery cases. [Emphasis added] Drysdale v. Ford Motor Company, 947 P.2d 678 (Utah Sup. Ct. 1997)

If, on a motion under Rule 12(b)(6) or 12(c), matters outside the pleadings are presented to and not excluded by the court, the motion must be treated as one for summary judgment under Rule 56. All parties must be given a reasonable opportunity to present all the material that is pertinent to the motion. [Emphasis added] <u>Bartlett v. Dept. Of the Treasury IRS</u>, 749 F.3d 1 (1<sup>st</sup> Cir. 2014)

... However, a court may not convert the motion to dismiss to one for summary judgment, unless the plaintiff first receives "both notice that the motion is pending and an adequate opportunity to respond." "Implicit in the 'opportunity to respond' is the requirement that sufficient time be afforded for discovery necessary to develop facts essential to justify a party's opposition to the motion." [Citations omitted] [Emphasis added] Williams v Grant County, No. 2:2015cv1760, U.S. District Court, District of OR, Pendleton Division.

There is strong support in a well-recognized text for requiring a formal, court-ordered conversion:

[T]hus, a notice of dismissal may be vacated only if filed after the time that the court has actually reviewed the motion to dismiss, determined whether to include or exclude the extraneous matters, notified the parties of the conversion to Rule 56, and expressly

afforded the parties a reasonable opportunity to present materials relevant to a motion for summary judgment. 8 James Wm. Moore et al., Moore's Federal Practice § 41.33[5][c] (3d ed.1997). [Emphasis added] <u>Swedberg v. Marotzke</u>, 339 F.3d 1139, FN #6 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2003).

In the Court of Appeals [Div I], the parties disputed whether the court should review the trial court's order as a CR 12(b)(6) dismissal or a CR 56(c) summary judgment order. Trujillo, 181 Wn. App. at 490. Noting that the trial court's order granted NWTS's motion to dismiss under CR 12(b)(6), the Court of Appeals concluded, "Because the supporting documents the trial court considered were alleged in the complaint and the 'basic operative facts are undisputed and the core issue is one of law,' we review the order under CR 12(b)(6), not as a summary judgment under CR 56(c)." Id. at 492. Trujillo v. Northwest Trustee Services, Inc., No. 90509-6, Washington State Supreme Court, En Banc.

As addressed above, it is comprehensively understood that federal and state law require notice, discovery and an opportunity to respond to comport with basic requirements of due process when converting from a CR 12(b)(6) motion to a CR 56 summary judgment motion.

I. The Court Should Accept Review Because The Court Of Appeals Did Not Have Authority To Sua Sponte Convert A CR Rule 12(b)(6) Motion To A CR 56 Motion. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

At the discretion of the district court, a motion to dismiss may be converted to a motion for summary judgment if the court chooses to consider materials outside the pleadings in making its ruling. However, if the district court chooses, as it did here, to ignore supplementary materials submitted with the motion papers and determine the motion under the Rule 12(b)(6) standard, no conversion occurs and the supplementary materials do not become part of the record for purposes of the Rule 12(b)(6) motion. We review a motion to dismiss using the "same criteria that obtained in the court below." As a result, we review only those documents actually considered by the district court in its Rule 12(b)(6) analysis unless we are persuaded that the court below erred in declining to consider the proffered documents.

Trans Spec Truck Service, Inc., v. Caterpillar, Inc., 524 F.3d, 315 (1st Cir. 2008)

A Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss supported by extraneous materials cannot be regarded as one for summary judgment **until the district court acts to convert the motion** by indicating, preferably by an explicit ruling, that it will not exclude those materials from its consideration. [Emphasis added]

Swedberg, at 1146.

The Rules of Appellate Procedure do not provide for the COA to *sua sponte* convert from a motion to dismiss to a motion for summary judgment. Only the trial court can convert such a motion under CR 12(b)(6).

Further, the trial court specifically noted that this was clearly a motion to dismiss and not a motion for summary judgment. See Introduction, supra. Also, the COA did not indicate which if any documents converted the CR 12(b)(6) motion to a CR 56 motion, or what makes the COA believe that the trial court actually considered summary judgment type documents. What the COA did was completely ignore their responsibility under RAP 9.13:

On review of an order granting or denying a motion for summary judgment the appellate court will consider only evidence and issues called to the attention of the trial court. The order granting or denying the motion for summary judgment shall designate the documents and other evidence called to the attention of the trial court before the order on summary judgment was entered. Documents or other evidence called to the attention of the trial court but not designated in the order shall be made a part of the record by supplemental order of the trial court or by stipulation of counsel.

Looking at RAP 9.13 closer, it states:

1. On review of an order granting or denying a motion for summary judgment the appellate court will consider only evidence and issues called to the attention of the trial court.

This is simply not possible. The COA cannot review a summary judgment order because the trial court did not order summary judgment – only a CR 12(b)(6) motion was addressed. There was no evidence because there was no discovery. The issues called to the attention of the trial court only related to the CR 12(b)(6).

2. The order granting or denying the motion for summary judgment shall designate the documents and other evidence called to the attention of the trial court before the order on summary judgment was entered.

Again, this is simply not possible. The trial court cannot designate the documents and other evidence called to the attention of the trial court, because the trial court did not rule on a motion for summary judgment.

3. Documents or other evidence called to the attention of the trial court but not designated in the order shall be made a part of the record by supplemental order of the trial court or by stipulation of counsel.

No documents or other evidence was addressed in the order because there was no order addressing summary judgment.

RAP 9.13 was ignored by the COA because it could not be reconciled with the COA's *sua sponte* conversion.

Consider also that the COA cannot engage in a *de novo* review of a summary judgment motion when the trial court never made a summary judgment determination.

When reviewing an order for summary judgment, we engage in the same inquiry as the trial court. [Citation omitted]

Kelley, at 572. The COA cannot engage in the same inquiry as the trial court because the trial court ruled on a CR 12(b)(6) motion and the COA ruled on a summary judgment motion. These are two different motions. See Introduction above.

The COA erred when it improperly converted to a summary judgment motion and then dismissed on summary judgment.

II. The Court Should Accept Review Because The Court Of Appeal's Denial Of The Petitioner's Motion For Reconsideration Violated Due Process Of Law When The COA Converted -Sua Sponte -A CR 12(B)(6) Motion To A CR 56 Motion Without Notice, Opportunity To Respond, Or Discovery And Thus Involves Significant Questions Of Law Under The 5th And 14th Amendments To The Constitution Of The United States And The Washington State Constitution, Article I § 4. RAP 2.5(a)(3).

The Introduction and Arguments for Issues Presented I, and II are hereby incorporated into this section.

It is clear that the numerous authorities addressing the CR 12(b)(6) shows that the COA erred when it *sua sponte* converted the trial court's CR 12(b)(6) motion to a CR 56 motion for summary judgment.

#### F. CONCLUSION

For the above reasons, Mr. Corrigan respectfully requests that this Court accept review of this matter and hold that the remedy prescribed by the Court of Appeals violates Mr. Corrigan's right to due process under the U.S. Constitution and the Washington State Constitution.