FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/27/2020 4:45 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 98133-7

THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

From Court of Appeals No. 36244-2-III

From Kittitas County Superior Court No. 16-2-00254-7 Hon. Richard Bartheld, Visiting Judge

GRANT COUNTY, D. ANGUS LEE, PATRICK K. SCHAFF, HON. JANIS WHITENER-MOBERG, HON. BRIAN D. BARLOW, HON. JOHN A. ANTOSZ,

Defendants / Respondents,

٧.

JOHN LOUIS CORRIGAN, SR.,

Plaintiff / Petitioner.

RESPONDENTS' REVISED ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JAMES E. BAKER, WSBA No. 9459 <u>jbaker@mrklawgroup.com</u> MOBERG RATHBONE KEARNS, P.S. P.O. Box 130 – 124 3rd Avenue S.W. Ephrata, WA 98823

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

C. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Petition for Review does not meet the criteria of RAP 13.4(b) or RAP 2.5(a)(3). The trial court did not rely upon any evidence outside of Petitioner's Amended Complaint to reach the conclusion – as a matter of law – that Petitioner's Amended Complaint did not state a claim upon which relief can be granted. The trial court did not convert the Grant County Defendants' motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) to a motion for

summary judgment under Rule 56. Even if the trial court relied on evidence outside of Petitioner's Amended Complaint, which is denied, reversal is not required because the dismissal was justified without reference to matters outside of Petitioner's Amended Complaint. The extraneous material consisted of only (1) a federal district court order granting a motion for summary judgment under Rule 56 brought by Trooper Timothy Kron and Trooper Cameron Iverson and a summary judgment motion brought by Grant County, Scott Ponozzo (former Grant County Undersheriff) and Douglas R. Mitchell (former Grant County Deputy Prosecuting Attorney) filed on December 10, 2013, (2) a Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals order dismissing Petitioner's appeal filed on February 24, 2014, (3) a federal district court order granting Grant County's and various Grant County employees' (prosecutors, judges and law enforcement officers) motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) with leave to amend filed on August 7, 2017 and (4) Petitioner's Amended Complaint filed in federal district court on September 7, 2017.

D. ARGUMENT

THE PETITION DOES NOT MEET THE CRITERIA OF RAP 13.4(b) or RAP 2.5(a)(3).

1. The decision is not in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court – RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Petitioner alleges that review should be accepted on the ground that the Court of Appeals did not have authority to *sue sponte* convert a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to a Rule 56 motion. (Petition for Review at 7.)

CR 12(c) provides:

If, on a motion for judgment on the pleadings are presented and not excluded by the court, the motion shall be treated as one for summary judgment and disposed of as provided in rule 56, and all parties shall be given reasonable opportunity to present all material made pertinent to such a motion by rule 56.

(Emphasis added.)

The trial court specifically stated that dismissal was based upon the allegations set forth in Petitioner's Amended Complaint. There is no suggestion that the trial court relied upon any extraneous material in coming to the decision to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6). In fact, it is quite the opposite. Petitioner quoted the trial court:

The Court finds in this case that there has not been a supplementation of the facts in this case, that this matter was actually properly brought before this Court of a CR 12 motion.

(Petition at 3, *quoting* VRP at 14-15.) Petitioner's own Petition for Review establishes that the trial court did not rely upon the limited extraneous material.

If the trial court thought a motion for summary judgment was being heard, which was clearly not the case, Petitioner cannot point to any discovery or additional material that he possibly could have presented to the trial court to defeat a motion for summary judgment. The trial court made rulings as a matter of law based upon the allegations set forth in Petitioner's Amended Complaint. The dismissal was proper without reference to the limited extrapleading material attached to the declaration of counsel for the Grant County Defendants.

Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(d) employs language substantially similar to CR 12 (c). *Compare* Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(d) ("All parties must be given reasonable opportunity to present all material that is pertinent to the motion") *with* CR 12(c) ("all parties shall be given reasonable opportunity to present all material made pertinent to such a motion by rule 56"). It can be error for a trial court to rely on facts outside the complaint in granting a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss. However, such a procedural error "would not require reversal if the dismissal can be justified without reference to matters outside of

the complaint." Ryder Energy Distribution Corp. v. Merrill Lynch Commod., Inc., 748 F.2d 774, 779 (2d Cir. 1984).

As the language of the rule suggests, federal courts have complete discretion to determine whether or not to accept the submission of any material beyond the pleadings that is offered in conjunction with a Rule 12(b)(6) motion and rely on it, thereby converting the motion, or to reject it or simply not consider it. . . . [W]hen it is scanty, incomplete, or inconclusive, the district court probably will reject it.

5C A. Miller, M. Kane and A. Spencer, Fed. Prac. & Proc. Civ. § 1366 (3d ed. 2010 – updated August 2019). (Emphasis added.) See also Puget Sound Surgical Ctr., PS v. Aetna Life Ins. Co., 2018 WL 4852625, *3 (W.D. Wash. 2018) (quoting with approval § 1366 of Fed. Prac. & Proc. and declining to consider other evidence in deciding a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to avoid converting it to a Rule 56 motion).

Petitioner cited a federal case – *Bartlett v. Dep't of the Treasury (I.R.S.)*, 749 F.3d 1 (1st Cir. 2014) -- that totally undermines his argument. In *Bartlett*, plaintiff suggested that the district court's dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6) "was more akin to summary judgment than to dismiss for failure to state a claim." 749 F.3d at 12. After quoting Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(d) that "parties must be given a reasonable

opportunity to present all the material that is pertinent to the motion," the circuit court stated at 12:

Here, the district court did not formally convert the IRS's motion to dismiss into a motion for summary judgment despite the fact that the motion was accompanied by other materials. The district court's failure to convert the motion, however, does not require reversal. We have made it clear that we "do[] not mechanistically enforce the requirement of express notice of a district court's intention to convert a Rule 12(b)(6) motion into a motion for summary judgment. [Citation omitted.] "Instead, we treat any error in failing to give express notice as harmless when the opponent has received the affidavit and materials, and has had an opportunity to respond to them, and has not controverted their accuracy." . . . Ms. Bartlett does not argue that she was denied an opportunity to respond, nor does she suggest that there are other affidavits or documents that she would have submitted to the district court if she had been given formal notice that the court was converting the IRS's motion to a motion for summary judgment. Consequently, the failure by the district court to formally convert the motion to dismiss into a motion for summary judgment was harmless.

(Emphasis added; paragraphing omitted.)

See also Schering Corp. v. Food and Drug Admin., 51 F.3d 390 (3d Cir. 1995), cert. denied 116 S.Ct. 274 (1995) (because the issue as to which summary judgment was granted was legal and the extrinsic material considered by the district court in converting defendant's Rule 12(b)(6) motion was not material to the legal issue, the district court's failure to give notice of the conversion was

harmless error); *Travel All Over the World, Inc. v. Kingdom of Saudi Arabia,* 73 F.3d 1423 (7th Cir. 1996) (even if the district court inappropriately relied on matters outside the pleadings without converting a motion to dismiss into one for summary judgment and providing the litigants with notice and an opportunity to respond, dismissal may be affirmed if Rule 12(b)(6) standards are met without reference to extrinsic material); *Brown v. Zavaras,* 63 F.3d 967 (10th Cir. 1995) (the district court's failure to notify plaintiff of its decision to convert a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to a Rule 56 motion in order to consider matters outside plaintiff's complaint is harmless if dismissal can be justified under Rule 12(b)(6) without reference to the extrinsic material).

Petitioner cited three opinions by this Court. The opinions are not in conflict with the rulings in this case. In fact, one case cited by Petitioner -- *Trujillo v. Northwest Trustee Servs., Inc.,* 183 Wn.2d 820, 355 P.3d 1100 (2015) — undermines Petitioner's argument. The *Trujillo* court held: "Dismissal is proper [for failure to state a claim under Rule 12(b)(6)] if the court concludes that plaintiff can prove no set of facts that would justify recovery." 183 Wn.2d at 830. (Emphasis added.)

Petitioner cited three federal cases to support his argument under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4) but the cases are not availing. The cases included *Bartlett v. Dep't of the Treasury (IRS)*, 749 F.3d 1 (1st Cir. 2014) (district court's failure to formally convert a motion to dismiss into a motion for summary judgment was harmless) and *Swedberg v. Marotzke*, 339 F.3d 1139 n. 6 (9th Cir. 2003) (affirming dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6) and holding that plaintiff's filing of extrinsic material did not automatically convert it into a motion for summary judgment).

2. The decision is not in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals – RAP 13.4(b)(2).

Petitioner cited four published Court of Appeals opinions in his petition for review. The rulings in this case are not in conflict with any of those cases. See Keck v. Collins, 181 Wn.App. 67, 325 P.3d 306 (2014); Kelley v. Pierce Cnty., 179 Wn.App. 566, 319 P.3d 74 (2014); Berst v. Snohomish Cnty., 114 Wn.App. 245, 57 P.3d 273 (2002) and Foisy v. Conroy, 101 Wn.App. 36, 4 P.3d 140 (2000), rev. denied 142 Wn.2d 1010, 16 P.3d 1263 (2000).

3. There is not a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or the United States – RAP 13.4(b)(3).

Petitioner did not seek review under RAP 13.4(b)(3). Even if he had done so his argument would be without merit. A trial court's discretion in whether to accept extraneous material in connection with a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss is not a significant question of law under the state or federal constitutions. Here, Petitioner admits that the trial court stated "that there has not been a supplementation of the facts in this case [and] this matter was properly brought before this Court on a CR 12 motion." (Petition at 3.) (VRP 14-15.)

4. The petition does not involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court – RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Petitioner's argument under RAP 13.4(b)(4) was based entirely on his claim that the Court of Appeals did not have authority to *sue sponte* convert a Rule 12(b)(6) motion into a Rule 56 motion. (Petition at 1.) Although the Court of Appeals reviewed the dismissal under summary judgment standards there is no indication that the trial court relied in any way on the limited extraneous materials or considered dismissal to be on any basis other than failure to state a claim.

5. The petition does not involve manifest error affecting a constitutional right – RAP 2.5(a)(3).

RAP 2.5(a) provides that an appellate court may refuse to

review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court but

"a party may raise the following claimed error for the first time in the

appellate court: . . . (3) manifest error affecting a constitutional

right."

Petitioner alleges that his Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment

constitutional rights were violated when the Court of Appeals sue

sponte converted a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to a Rule 56 motion.

(Petition at 9.) Petitioner simply incorporated by reference the

arguments that he made in connection with his other assignments

of error. (Id.)

E. CONCLUSION

The Court should deny the Petition for Review.